RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 23, 2014, 2:20 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK Court of Appeals # 71495-3-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

91189-4 Sup. Ct. No.: \_\_\_\_

#### SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

Peter Lawson, Appellant

and

Karin Treadwell, Respondent

## **MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

Peter C. Lawson, Appellant 14241 NE Woodinville-Duvall Rd. Woodinville WA 98072 425-427 5303 email: peter@pclattorney.com

#### A. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

Peter C. Lawson is the moving party herein.

#### B. DECISION

The Division One Clerk referred tardiness/noncompliance with case schedule to a Division One Commissioner for dismissal. The Division One Commissioner extended the time for compliance several times and eventually dismissed the appeal. A timely Motion to Modify the ruling was filed & served. The Motion to Modify was denied.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The single issue presented for consideration by this Court is:

Pursuant to RAP 18.9, can the Court of Appeals on its own motion dismiss an appeal solely for failing to adhere to the dates listed in the timeline scheduling letter for perfection of the appeal, where the tardiness had no negative effect upon the other party?

If the answer is yes, what are the standards governing dismissal for timeline tardiness and were those standards met in this situation thus justifying dismissal of the appeal?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The merits of the appeal have not been reviewed. The facts relevant to this motion

are contained in the record on review in the Division One pouch.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED [RAP 13.5(b)]

The standards of **<u>RAP 13.5(b)</u>** are:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. Discretionary review of an interlocutory decision of the Court of Appeals will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the Court of Appeals has committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless; or (2) If the Court of Appeals has committed probable error and the decision of the Court of Appeals substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act; or
(3) If the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a trial court or administrative agency, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court.

Subsection (1) appears to be the most applicable standard for this situation, with subsection (3) a close second.

### The denial of the Motion to Modify condones a departure by the appellate commissioner so far from the accepted and usual course of proceedings as to call for revisory jurisdiction of the Supreme Court.

*A. Argument re statutory construction* 

At the outset, the undersigned points out that argument on this point was not explicitly made to Division One.

Statutory construction begins with the language used in the statute at issue.<sup>1</sup> In this case, a letter dated 2/24 from Division One clerk imposed a 10 day period to file designation of clerks papers and statement of arrangements.<sup>2</sup> The letter further warned that failure to do so would result in a motion for sanctions and/or dismissal. The language of the letter, while not explicitly stated, was that the motion was on the docket at the time of the letter.

The letter dated 8/28 is the one dismissing the appeal as abandoned. The letter clearly states that the failure to file the brief caused the dismissal. At no point was there any alternate sanction discussed or imposed. From the start, dismissal was the only penalty.

**<u>RAP 18.9</u>** states, in pertinent part:

(a) Sanctions. The appellate court on its own initiative or on motion of a party may order a party or counsel, or a court reporter or other authorized person preparing a verbatim report of proceedings, who uses these rules for the purpose of delay, files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules to pay terms or

<sup>1</sup> Court rules are analyzed in the same manner as statutes. Jones v Stebbins, 122 Wn.2d 471 (1993). <sup>2</sup> Designation of clerks papers is a document filed in the trial court and directed to the trial court clerk. Apparently the letter actually meant providing proof of service to Division One of the filing & service of the designation of clerks papers with the trial court. compensatory damages to any other party who has been harmed by the delay or the failure to comply or to pay sanctions to the court. The appellate court may condition a party's right to participate further in the review on compliance with terms of an order or ruling including payment of an award which is ordered paid by the party. If an award is not paid within the time specified by the court, the appellate court will transmit the award to the superior court of the county where the case arose and direct the entry of a judgment in accordance with the award.

(b) Dismissal on Motion of Commissioner or Clerk. The commissioner or clerk, on 10 days' notice to the parties, may (1) dismiss a review proceeding as provided in section (a) and (2) except as provided in rule 18.8(b), will dismiss a review proceeding for failure to timely file a notice of appeal, a notice for discretionary review, a motion for discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, or a petition for review. A party may object to the ruling of the commissioner or clerk only as provided in rule 17.7.

(c) Dismissal on Motion of Party. The appellate court will, on motion of a party, dismiss review of a case (1) for want of prosecution if the party seeking review has abandoned the review, or (2) if the application for review is frivolous, moot, or solely for the purpose of delay, or (3) except as provided in rule 18.8(b), for failure to timely file a notice of appeal, a notice of discretionary review, a motion for discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, or a petition for review.

Subsection (b) establishes the authority of the commissioner/clerk to dismiss an appeal and

limits that authority at the same time. It contains one path to dismissal for other than the

reasons listed in the subsection itself: referral to subsection (a). The referral to standards in

RAP 18.8(b) by its terms does not apply to this situation.

A cardinal rule of statutory construction is:

If the language of the rule is clear on its face, we give effect to its plain meaning and assume the rule means exactly what is intended. [cites omitted].

## <u>City of Bellevue v. Hellenthal, 144 Wn.2d 425, 431, 28 P.3d 744 (2001)</u>.

**<u>RAP 18.9(b)</u>** is clear and unambiguous. Therefore, it is not subject to interpretation. The terms of (b) direct that a dismissal by the commissioner/clerk is controlled by subsection

(a) which does not authorize dismissal under any circumstances. It does not even contain the words "dismiss" or "dismissal." Therefore subsection (a) cannot justify or authorize the dismissal of this appeal.

If a *party* makes a motion to dismiss, subsection (c)(1) provides for dismissal for "want of prosecution" if the appellant has abandoned the appeal. No standards are specified that define "abandoned." Presumably abandonment would be characterized by zero efforts to comply or zero efforts to acknowledge the authority of the court. Neither of those two conditions is present here, where the undersigned made numerous attempts to estimate when he could satisfy the requirements to perfect the appeal.

As previously stated in the Motion to Modify, the undersigned is not disputing his tardiness. He strongly disagrees with the use of hard deadlines to dismiss if he cannot properly estimate the time he would need to produce the result.<sup>3</sup>

Not only is the dismissal not based upon a motion by a party, but the other party in the appeal is not affected in any way. The judgments on appeal are not stayed or restricted in any way. So there cannot be any issue of damages or prejudice to the other party which could affect the analysis.

#### B. Argument re appropriateness of dismissal

Proper statutory construction of the rule precludes the commissioner from having the authority to dismiss the appeal under the facts presented here. However, the letter from the Division One clerk specifically described the reason for dismissal as abandonment.

In the only case which the undersigned could locate on the subject of abandonment, the Supreme Court held as follows:

> The appellate rules provide no specific guidance as to when an appellant has abandoned his appeal. However, under our old rules, we held that a motion to dismiss for want of prosecution rests within the sound discretion of the court hearing the motion. [cites omitted].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It should be noticed that the original tardy filing letter concerned the Statement of Arrangements and Designation of Clerks Papers. By the time the commissioner dismissed the appeal, the issue was tardiness in filing the opening brief. This shows that some efforts to accomplish the various necessary tasks were successful, which contradicts the characterization of abandonment.

It must be remembered, however, that the right to appeal is a constitutional right. Consequently, any waiver of that right via the alleged abandonment of an appeal must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

#### <u>State v. Ashbaugh, 90 Wn.2d 432, 439, 583 P.2d</u> 1206 (1978).

The undersigned is fairly certain that the basis for the statement "right to appeal is a

constitutional right," quoted above, is because that appeal was in a criminal case. However,

even if it does not apply here, civil litigants still have a right to appeal:

•

In determining whether an appeal is frivolous and was, therefore, brought for the purpose of delay, justifying the imposition of terms and compensatory damages, we are guided by the following considerations: (1) A civil appellant has a right to appeal under RAP 2.2; ...

#### Streater v. White, 26 Wn. App. 430, 434, 613 P.2d 187 (1980).

As stated in Ashbaugh, the meaning of abandon is not in the rules. Therefore, the

appropriate judicial doctrine is to apply the common language meaning of the word:

abandon -v.- 1. To withdraw one's support or help from, esp. in spite of a duty, allegiance, or responsibility; desert: abandon a friend in trouble. 2. To give up by leaving or ceasing to operate or inhabit, esp. as a result of danger or other impending threat: abandon ship.
3. To surrender one's claim or right to; give up. 4. To desist from; cease trying to continue. 5. To yield (one-self) completely, as to emotion. [the omitted remainder of definition is for use as a noun].

#### American Heritage Dictionary, 2nd Ed., Houghton Mifflin Co. (1982)

None of the conditions described in the definition above fit the facts of this situa-

tion. To be sure, even the clerk's letter dismissing the appeal states a history of actions that

contradicts abandonment. The only rational conclusion is that the undersigned did not

abandon his appeal. At the worst, he has been incompetent at managing to comply with

obligatory timelines. The sanction for this, if any, should not be dismissal of the appeal.

## F. CONCLUSION & RELIEF REQUESTED

The undersigned requests that this Court enlarge the time for him to file his opening brief, determine that he did not abandon his appeal, determine that the other party is unaffected in any significant manner by his tardiness, and defer imposition of any monetary sanctions/terms should this Court determine that any are appropriate.

#### Respectfully submitted by:

•

/S/

12/23/2014

Peter C. Lawson, Appellant

Date

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 23, 2014, 2:22 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK Court of Appeals No. 71495-3-I

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Sup. Ct. #: \_\_\_\_\_

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Peter Lawson		)		
	Appellant	ý	DECLARATION	
VS	••	)	OF SERVICE	
		)		
Karin Treadwell		)		
	Respondent	)		
	-	)		

Peter C. Lawson declares as follows:

On the date shown below, I served a true copy of the following:

## MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

upon the Respondent by **<u>e-mail</u>** to her appellate attorney at:

Valerie A Villacin Smith Goodfriend PS 1619 8<sup>th</sup> Ave N Seattle WA 98109-3007 valerie@washingtonappeals.com

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated <u>12/23/2014</u> at Bellevue WA

<u>/S/</u>

Peter Lawson, declarant

## **OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK**

To:LHCc:valerie@washingtonappeals.comSubject:RE: Motion for Discretionary Review for filing

Received 12-23-2014

Supreme Court Clerk's Office

Please note that any pleading filed as an attachment to e-mail will be treated as the original. Therefore, if a filing is by e-mail attachment, it is not necessary to mail to the court the original of the document.

-----Original Message-----From: LH [mailto:pgroup@avvanta.com] Sent: Tuesday, December 23, 2014 2:20 PM To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK Cc: valerie@washingtonappeals.com Subject: Motion for Discretionary Review for filing

Dear Clerk,

Please file the attached documents on behalf of Peter C. Lawson for consideration on the Court's motion calendar.

If there is any problem with this transmission, please contact Mr. Lawson at 206-473-5303.

Thank you.

The Court of Appeals of the State of Washington

RICHARD D. JOHNSON, Court Administrator/Clerk

August 28, 2014

Valerie A Villacin Smith Goodfriend PS 1619 8th Ave N Seattle, WA, 98109-3007 valerie@washingtonappeals.com

Peter Carl Lawson Attorney at Law 14241 NE Woodinville Duvall Rd PMB 146 Woodinville, WA, 98072 peter@pclattorney.com DIVISION I One Union Square 600 University Street Seattle, WA 98101-4170 (206) 464-7750 TDD: (206) 587-5505

Cynthia B Whitaker Law Offices of Cynthia B. Whitaker 1200 5th Ave Ste 2020 Seattle, WA, 98101-3100 cynthia@cynthiawhitaker.com

CASE #: 71495-3-I In re the Marriage of: Peter Lawson, Appellant v, Karin Treadwell, Respondent

Counsel:

The following notation ruling by Commissioner Masako Kanazawa of the Court was entered on August 28, 2014, regarding Court's Motion to Dismiss/Impose Sanctions:

This is a marriage dissolution case. Appellant Peter Lawson is an attorney representing himself. By ruling of August 8, 2014, this Court granted a fourth extension for Lawson to file his opening brief until August 25, 2014. At the August 8, 2014 hearing on the Court's motion to dismiss, Lawson appeared and indicated he could file the brief by the following Friday (August 15, 2014). When I required a definite commitment, Lawson requested an extension until August 25, 2014. I granted his request but stated that this case would be dismissed if he does not file the brief by August 25, 2014. Lawson stated okay and that was "fair." The August 8, 2014 ruling stated with emphasis in bold: "If Lawson fails to file his brief and the status report by August 25, 2014, this case will be dismissed without further notice from this Court." Lawson did not file his brief or status report by August 25, 2014. As of this ruling (August 28, 2014), nothing has been filed by Lawson since the August 8 ruling. This case should be dismissed as abandoned.

Therefore, it is

ORDERED that this case is dismissed. It is further

ORDERED that the hearing on August 29, 2014 is stricken.

Sincerely,

Richard D. Johnson Court Administrator/Clerk

lls

Exhibit 1