RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 06, 2015, 10:02 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91189-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

KARIN TREADWELL,

Respondent,

v.

PETER LAWSON,

Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE RICHARD D. EADIE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

LAW OFFICES OF CYNTHIA B.

WHITAKER

By: Valerie A. Villacin

By: Cynthia B. Whitaker WSBA No. 34515

WSBA No. 7292

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

1200 5th Avenue, Suite 2020 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 382-0000

Attorneys for Respondent

B. Statement of Case

1. The trial court entered final orders dissolving the parties' marriage after a 4-day trial. Since entry, Lawson has failed to comply with the trial court's order requiring him to pay child support for the parties' three children.

After a 4-day trial, the trial court entered final orders dissolving the 9-year marriage of respondent Karin Treadwell and petitioner Peter Lawson. Among other rulings, the trial court enforced the parties' prenuptial agreement and designated Treadwell as the primary residential parent of the parties' three children, then ages 3, 7, and 9. Lawson was ordered to pay child support in the amount of \$1,054 per month, commencing on June 1, 2014. Lawson was also ordered to pay a portion of the children's extraordinary expenses, including uninsured medical expenses.

However, to date, the only amounts received by Treadwell towards Lawson's child support obligation were through Washington DSHS from funds apparently garnished from either Lawson's wages or accounts towards his arrearage. Treadwell received approximately \$1,529 in September 2014 and \$685.82 in January 2014.

Similar to his actions in the appellate court, the trial court found that Lawson unnecessarily increased both parties' attorney fees by pursuing three continuances of the trial date, and failing "to timely respond to discovery requests and requests for cooperation and exchange of information throughout the case."

2. Since filing his Notice of Appeal Lawson violated or disregarded every ruling from the appellate courts.

Lawson, a practicing attorney, was represented by counsel in the superior court for the dissolution trial. On January 17, 2014, Lawson filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal purportedly challenging both property and parenting decisions by the trial court. Since filing his Notice of Appeal, Lawson has violated or simply disregarded nearly every ruling of the appellate courts, including this Court, and now fourteen months later has still not perfected the record nor filed an opening brief to support his now dismissed appeal:

- On February 24, 2014, the Court of Appeals directed Lawson to file his Statement of Arrangements, which had been due on February 18, 2014, by March 6, 2014. Lawson did not file his Statement of Arrangements on March 6, 2014. Instead, he waited until March 19, 2014 to file the Statement of Arrangements the day the Clerk set a hearing on the court's motion to dismiss for which Treadwell's counsel had appeared.
- On May 7, 2014, the Court of Appeals directed Lawson to file an Amended Statement of Arrangements by May 19, 2014 to reflect the actual hearing dates transcribed. Lawson failed to file an Amended Statement of Arrangements by May 19, 2014.
- On May 22, 2014, Court of Appeals Commissioner
 Mary Neel set a hearing on June 13, 2014 for the court's motion to
 dismiss for Lawson's failure to file an Amended Statement of
 Arrangements. Lawson did not appear for this hearing, and did not
 file an Amended Statement of Arrangements.

¹ Lawson's original Statement of Arrangements listed only one trial date. However, the court reporter filed a verbatim report proceedings for all four days of trial. Lawson had confirmed with Treadwell's counsel at the time he filed his Statement that he intended to have all four days of trial transcribed.

- On June 13, 2014, Court of Appeals Commissioner Masako Kanazawa ordered Lawson to advise the court in writing as to the status of his Amended Statement of Arrangements by June 23, 2014 and ruled that his "failure to do so will result in imposition of sanctions of \$250 without further notice of the Court." Lawson did not advise the court of the status of the report of proceedings on June 23, 2014. Instead, Treadwell advised the court that Lawson had previously confirmed in writing with undersigned counsel that Lawson intended to file the report of proceedings for all four days of trial.
- On June 26, 2014, Commissioner Kanazawa imposed sanctions of \$250 against Lawson for failing to advise the court of the status of the report of proceedings. To date, Lawson has not paid the \$250 sanction.
- Meanwhile, Lawson asked for an extension to file his opening brief from June 2, 2014 to July 31, 2014, claiming that he has been "busy trying to run his own practice and needs additional time to complete his brief." On June 5, 2014, the court issued a notation ruling granting Lawson an extension to July 7, 2014 a 35-day extension stating that "perfection of this appeal has been significantly delayed [and] failure to file the opening brief by July 7,

2014 may result in the dismissal of the case without further notice." Lawson did not file his opening brief on July 7, 2014.

- Lawson requested a second extension to file his brief, claiming that "his brief will be finished, filed, and served by July 21, 2014." Lawson claimed that the Superior Court Clerk had rejected his Designation of Clerk's Papers, which purportedly was also a cause for his delay in completing his opening brief. However, according to the notation from the Superior Court docket on March 13, 2014, the designation of clerk's papers was not prepared "per customer." (Ex. 1, Sub. No. 156) In other words, Lawson directed the Superior Court Clerk to *not* prepare the clerk's papers.
- On July 9, 2014, Commissioner Kanazawa granted appellant's second motion for extension to file his opening brief on July 21, 2014. The court ruled that if Lawson "fails to file his brief by July 21, 2014 without a showing of good cause, he will be ordered to pay terms of \$500 to Treadwell." Lawson failed to file his opening brief by July 21, 2014.
- Lawson requested a third extension to file his opening brief to an indeterminate date, still casting blame for the needed extension on the Clerk's Papers department at King County Superior Court. However, on July 1, 2014, the Deputy Clerk of the

Clerk's Papers Section informed Lawson that he incorrectly assigned sub number 8 as the designated Motion & Declaration for Temp Order, and that he needed to re-designate that document using sub number 9, which was the correct sub number. The letter confirmed the Clerk's conversation with Lawson that per Lawson's request they were not preparing the designation. (Ex. 2) In addition to the self-created problem with the clerk's papers, Lawson claimed that while a draft of the brief was apparently completed, he needed additional time to complete the brief as he "still ha[s] work to do ... mostly revising my arguments and getting the table of contents and appendix together."

- On July 29, 2014, Commissioner Kanazawa granted Lawson's third motion for extension to file his opening brief to August 5, 2014 an additional 15 days for him to complete his brief and ordered Lawson to pay terms to Treadwell in the amount of \$500. The court also ordered Lawson to file a status report on the clerk's papers by August 5, 2014. Lawson did not file his opening brief, did not provide a status report on the clerk's papers, and did not pay terms of \$500 to Treadwell.
- On August 8, 2014, Lawson appeared at the hearing on the court's motion to dismiss, which Treadwell had joined. At

this hearing, Lawson asked the court for a fourth extension to file his opening brief by August 15, 2014. However, when the court asked for a "definite commitment" from Lawson, he then asked for an extension to August 25, 2014. When the court cautioned Lawson that his case would be dismissed if he did not file the brief on that date, Lawson stated "okay and that was fair." (See Appendix A) Accordingly, Commissioner Kanazawa ruled that "if Lawson fails to file his brief and the status report [for the clerk's papers] by August 25, 2014, this case will be dismissed without further notice from the court."

- Lawson did not file his opening brief or provide a status report on the clerk's papers by August 25, 2014. Lawson also did not seek what would have amounted to a fifth extension to file his opening brief. On August 28, 2014, Commissioner Kanazawa ruled that "as of this ruling (August 28, 2014), nothing has been filed by Lawson since the August 8 ruling. This case should be dismissed as abandoned." (See Appendix A)
- Despite previously acknowledging that it would be "okay" and "fair" that his appeal be dismissed if he failed to file his opening brief by August 25, 2014, Lawson filed a Motion to Modify the Commissioner's Ruling on September 29, 2014. Meanwhile,

Lawson did not purport to have completed his opening brief, he did not provide a status report on his clerk's papers, and he has not paid any of the sanctions or fees imposed against him.

- A panel of judges of Division One of the Court of Appeals denied Lawson's motion to modify on November 25, 2014.
 (Appendix A)
- On December 23, 2014, Lawson purported to file a
 Motion for Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals decision denying his motion to modify under RAP 13.5.
- On January 12, 2015, this Court advised Lawson that his motion seeking review should have been brought under RAP 13.4, as he was seeking review of a decision terminating review. This Court ruled that it would "treat" Lawson's motion as a petition for review, and directed that he pay the required filing fee by February 11, 2015, or else "it is likely that this matter will be dismissed."
- Lawson did not seek to conform his previously filed motion under RAP 13.5 to the factors under RAP 13.4. Lawson also did not pay the required filing fee by February 11, 2015. Instead, he paid it one day later on February 12, 2015.

- On March 4, 2015, Lawson for the first time asked this Court to reconsider its decision treating his motion for discretionary review as a petition for review under RAP 13.4. In the alternative, Lawson asked for the opportunity to revise his previously filed motion to address the factors under RAP 13.4. This Court granted his request to submit a revised petition for review, and directed him to file his revised petition by March 23, 2015. This Court advised Lawson that if he did not file his revised petition by March 23, 2015, his previously filed motion would be the one considered by the Court.
- Lawson did not file a revised petition for review by March 23, 2015. Treadwell therefore submits the following answer to his motion for discretionary review filed on December 23, 2014:

C. Grounds for Denial of Review.

This Court should deny Lawson's petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision dismissing his appeal for failure to prosecute under RAP 18.9(b) and RAP 18.9(c)(1), as he failed to perfect the record for his appeal, and never filed an opening brief despite being granted multiple extensions. Dismissal was also warranted under RAP 18.9(b) and RAP 18.9(c)(2), as Lawson has failed to comply with nearly every ruling by the Court of Appeals

and it is apparent that he brought this appeal solely for purposes of delay, and to cause Treadwell to incur unnecessary attorney fees.

Review of the Court of Appeals' decision is not warranted as it is not in conflict with any other decisions in the Court of Appeals or in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Nor does the Court of Appeals' decision raise any constitutional issues or involve issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

1. The Court of Appeals had authority to dismiss the appeal.

Lawson complains that the Court of Appeals did not have authority to dismiss his appeal under RAP 18.9(b), claiming that the court may only dismiss an appeal for an appellant's failure to timely file a notice of appeal, notice of discretionary review, a motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals, or a petition for review. (Petition 5) However, RAP 18.9(b) is not so limited. Instead, it allows the court to dismiss an appeal for any of the reasons set forth in RAP 18.9(a), including if a party uses the rules "for purposes of delay." In any event, Treadwell joined in the Court of Appeals' motion to dismiss and asked the court to dismiss the appeal under RAP 18.9(c) for want of prosecution as Lawson had failed to perfect the record and file his opening brief, and that

his appeal was brought solely for purposes of delay and to harass Treadwell. (See Joinder in Court's Motion to Impose Sanctions or Dismiss Appeal, filed August 8, 2014) Accordingly, the Court of Appeals had authority to dismiss Lawson's appeal under RAP 18.9(b), (c) when he failed to perfect the record and failed to file his opening brief.

2. The Court of Appeals properly dismissed the appeal as abandoned.

Lawson claims that he has not "abandoned" his appeal. (Petition 6) However, he has done nothing to move his appeal forward. At best, Lawson has sought to avoid dismissal, but he has not done anything to actually pursue review of his appeal on the merits. For instance, even though the Superior Court Clerk directed Lawson to amend his Designation of Clerk's Papers and correct the sub number for one of the pleadings that he designated, he to date has not done this simple task. As a result, the Superior Court Clerk has not yet prepared the clerk's papers at Lawson's "request." (Ex. 1, 2) Further, on July 21, 2014, Lawson claimed that all he needed to do to complete his opening brief was "revis[e] my arguments and get [] the table of contents and appendix together." Lawson was

then given more than a month to complete his opening brief by August 25, 2014, yet he still did not file his brief.

Lawson claims that regardless of his dilatory tactics, he has a "right" to an appeal. (Petition 6) But even if he has a right to an appeal similar to the right of a criminal defendant, he "knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily" waived any right to an appeal when he appeared before the Court of Appeals commissioner and conceded that it was "okay" and "fair" that his appeal be dismissed if he failed to file his opening brief by August 25, 2014. (See Appendix A) State v. Asbaugh, 90 Wn.2d 432, 439, 583 P.2d 1206 (1978). Because Lawson failed to file his brief by August 25, 2014, the Court of Appeals properly accepted his waiver and dismissed his appeal as abandoned. O'Connor v. Matzdorff, 76 Wn.2d 589, 596, 458 P.2d 154 (1969) (dismissal of appeal for appellant's failure to prosecute is within the discretion of the court).

While this Court has acknowledged that it is "hesitant to punish litigants for neglect of their counsel," *State v. Asbaugh*, 90 Wn.2d at 439, Lawson is a licensed attorney who is representing himself on appeal. Thus any neglect is his own, and his refusal to perfect the record and file an opening brief despite being specifically warned, and agreeing, that his appeal would be

dismissed without further notice must be considered a "knowing, intelligent, and voluntary" waiver of his appeal.

Finally, Lawson seems to imply that the Court of Appeals could have imposed a lesser sanction on him in order to compel him to timely prosecute his appeal. (See Petition 3, 7) But in fact, the Court of Appeals had attempted to impose lesser sanctions first. On June 26, 2014, the Court of Appeals imposed a \$250 sanction against Lawson when Lawson failed to advise the court of the status of the report proceedings. Nevertheless, Lawson never provided the status report² and never paid the sanction. On July 9, 2014, the Court of Appeals ordered Lawson to file his opening brief by July 21, 2014 or pay terms of \$500 to Treadwell. Lawson did not file his opening brief, nor did he pay the court-ordered terms to Treadwell.

The Court of Appeals made every effort to compel Lawson to timely prosecute his appeal, and when lesser sanctions failed, the court properly imposed the ultimate sanction of dismissal, which it only ordered after Lawson waived his right to an appeal by agreeing that it was "fair" and "okay" for the court to dismiss his appeal if he failed to timely file his opening brief.

 $^{^{2}}$ Ultimately, it was Treadwell that advised the court of the status of the report of the proceedings.

3. Treadwell and the parties' three children are harmed by this long drawn out appeal. They are entitled to finality now, which can only come from dismissal of Lawson's appeal.

The Court of Appeals properly dismissed Lawson's appeal after he abandoned his appeal by both failing to perfect the record and to file an opening brief. Further, Lawson agreed to dismissal of his appeal when he asserted that it was both "okay" and "fair" for the court to dismiss his appeal if he failed to file an opening brief by August 25, 2014.

Lawson is absolutely wrong when he claims that Treadwell "is unaffected in any significant manner by his tardiness." (Petition 7) Since Lawson filed his notice of appeal on January 17, 2014, Treadwell has incurred over \$4,700 in attorney fees addressing Treadwell's dilatory tactics. In the more than 14 months since the final dissolution orders has been entered, this appeal, in which Lawson asserts he intends to challenge parenting, support, and property, has loomed over the family. Despite entry of final orders, there remains no closure for the family while this appeal is pending. Although the children may not be directly impacted by the appeal, they are still nevertheless impacted. For instance, the money being expended on attorney fees addressing the appeal by Treadwell is

money that is being directed away from the support of the children, which considering that Treadwell is the sole financial provider, as Lawson has refused to pay child support, is a relevant consideration.

Further, continued litigation between the parents "chills" the relationship between them, which is not in the children's best interests. "The emotional and financial interests affected by [family law] decisions are best served by finality." *Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809, 699 P.2d 214 (1985). The Treadwell/Lawson family is entitled to that finality and to no longer be haunted by the specter of this appeal. The appeal should be dismissed and Lawson should be ordered to pay Treadwell's attorney fees.

D. Conclusion.

Review of the Court of Appeals' decision is not warranted as it is not in conflict with any other decisions in the Court of Appeals or in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Nor does the Court of Appeals' decision raise any constitutional issues or involve issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

This Court should deny Lawson's petition for review, award attorney fees of \$5,000 to Treadwell, and direct the clerk to immediately enter the mandate terminating review of this case.